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High-Quality Programs

Our Year at a Glance

4

144
leadership development

programs facilitated nationally.

121 in 2016-17

19% increase

4,451
education leaders supported 

by QELi programs across 
Australia and internationally.

3,033 in 2016-17

47% increase

842
educators attended events in 
our Special Thought Leader 
Event series, gaining insight 

from national and international 
thought leaders. Events 

included:

Collaboration, Coherence and 
Feedback

Embedding Formative 
Assessment with Emeritus 

Professor Dylan Wiliam

Putting FACES on the Data 
with Dr Lyn Sharratt

Foundations of Learning 
Sprints with Dr Simon 

Breakspear

91
customised programs 

developed in direct response to 
identified needs by government 
and non-government systems 
and schools across Australia.

22
programs delivered in 

partnership with the Queensland 
Department of Education.

978
educators in Queensland State 
Schools participated in QELi 

programs.

educators participated in 35 
programs since the Queensland 
Department of Education and 

QELi commenced a partnership 
on 2 December 2016.

3,007

4.6/5
average rating by participants 

when asked whether the 
program or event they 

attended made a positive 
impact on their ongoing 

learning and development.

Quality level maintained

from 2016-17
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Collaboration

Highlights from our partnership with Growth Coaching International:

190
participants attended 

Coaching Accreditation 
Program Phases 1–3

158 in 2016-17

20.3% increase

105
Participants attended 

Introduction to Leadership 
Coaching

67 in 2016-17

56.7% increase

52
participants attended 

Peer Coaching: Positive 
Conversations About Teaching 

29 in 2016-17

79.3% increase

347
participants

16
programs

Organisational Strength

Queensland Department of Education
Independent Schools Queensland
Queensland Catholic Education Commission 

We strengthened our partnerships with:

$10,823,732 
Sales Revenue

$6,847,398 in 2016-17

58% increase

$672,281
Net Operating Surplus

$212,275 in 2016-17

217% increase



Message from the Chair

It is a pleasure as Chair of QELi to report 
on what has been one of the strongest and 
most productive years the company has 
experienced. In 2017-18, QELi completed 
its largest program to date, delivered in 
partnership with Queensland’s Department 
of Education, providing the unprecedented 
opportunity to deliver a coordinated range 
of leadership and capability development 
programs that will have a lasting impact on 
Queensland state school educators.

QELi has strengthened relationships with 
the Catholic and independent sectors 
and has forged new partnerships with 
non-government schools and systems in 
Queensland and across Australia. With a 
genuine commitment to providing the highest-
quality professional development, QELi has 
worked with higher education institutions, 
professional associations, standard bodies 
and internationally renowned education 
experts to provide relevant, contemporary, 
evidence-informed learning experiences for 
educators and administrators at all levels, 
from pre-service teachers to experienced 
principals and system leaders.   

Strong Financial Performance

This financial year, QELi generated 
$10,823,732 in revenue — a 58 per cent 
increase compared to 2016-17 — and 
recorded a net surplus of $672,281, reflecting 
an increase of 217 per cent on last year’s 
performance. This surplus, along with a 
strong balance sheet position as at 30 June, 
has positioned QELi to strategically invest 
in the partnerships and systems that will 
support higher-quality programs, investment 
in education across all sectors, and continual 
improvement to participant experiences into 
the future. 

Following the completion of a large program 
delivered in partnership with the Queensland 
Department of Education, we expect demand 
for QELi products from all sectors both within 
and outside the state to continue, ensuring 
the ongoing viability and influence of the 
organisation.

Strengthened Partnerships

QELi continues to be recognised across the 
state, Catholic and independent sectors as 
an organisation with genuine commitment to 
supporting and building the capability of the 
profession. New and continuing partnerships 
with schools, regions, dioceses and systems 
have allowed QELi to respond to the needs 
of educators with targeted, evidence-based 
professional development — including 
high-priority areas such as rural and remote 
education, disability and inclusive education, 
and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
education.

Partnerships to enhance the quality of our 
programs have been firmly in focus this 
year, and QELi has built and strengthened 
relationships with higher education institutions 
as well as partners including Growth 
Coaching International, FranklinCovey and 
Uncommon Schools to deliver evidence-
based customised and open programs that 
meet our participants’ needs.

To demonstrate our focus on collaborative 
learning experiences, in 2017-18, QELi 
supported seven education conferences 
within and outside Australia. We also 
welcomed partners from across schools, 
universities and associations to in-house 
QELi forums, signaling the organisation’s 
increasing prominence as a thought leader 
and facilitating opportunities for strategic 
discussion and professional networking.

Future Outlook

As QELi looks to the future, we draw from 
the learnings and experiences of the past 
18 months, which have undoubtedly driven 
growth and maturation of the organisation and 
allowed us to provide enduring benefits for 
thousands of educators. Moving forward, QELi 
remains firmly focused on its core purpose of 
supporting excellence in education leadership 
through strong partnerships with clients and 
collaborators alike, high-quality and high-
impact programs and continual investment in 
education as a thought leader and enabler of 
change and improvement. 

I thank my fellow Board members — Paul 
Paxton-Hall (Deputy Chair), Dr Lee-Anne 
Perry AM, Leanne Nixon — and new members 
who joined the board this period, Josephine 
Wise and Kris Isles. Special thanks must 
go to Jacquita Miller, who finalised her role 
during the year after having made significant 
contributions to QELi as a Board member. 

I acknowledge the work of my fellow directors, 
Chief Executive Officer Neil McDonald and 
the management team and employees of 
QELi for their shared commitment to providing 
quality leadership development programs for 
education professionals at all levels. On behalf 
of QELi, I reaffirm our ongoing commitment 
to managing the business effectively and 
sustainably so that it can continue to deliver 
on its strategic objectives for many years to 
come.

Professor Donna Pendergast

Partnerships to enhance 
the quality of our programs 
have been firmly in focus 
this year, and QELi has 
built and strengthened 
relationships with higher 
education institutions.
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The experiences of this 
year have solidified our 
commitment to the QELi 
vision of excellence in 
education leadership and 
helped the organisation 
to further define our 
approach to achieve this.

Message from the CEO

The 2017-18 financial year has been a 
significant one for QELi. We delivered a 
range of outstanding programs for educators 
across the government and non-government 
schooling sectors, and strengthened 
our relationships with delivery partners, 
participants and systems within and beyond 
Queensland. 

Achievements in 2017-18

This year, QELi delivered a broad range 
of signature and customised programs, 
building the capability of more than 4,450 
educators across Australian state, Catholic 
and independent school sectors, as well as 
internationally. This achievement represented 
a 47 per cent increase in participation rates 
compared to 2016-17 and affirmed QELi’s 
reputation as a provider of evidence-informed, 
cost-effective professional development that 
meets participant, school and system needs.

In addition to direct delivery of programs, 
we took seriously our commitment to unite 
educators and facilitate opportunities for 
professional collaboration. Through our 
new Special Leadership Event series, we 
welcomed national and international experts 
and thought leaders to QELi events to 
engage 842 educators in challenging and 
inspiring discussions about issues of critical 
importance to school leaders.

As in previous years, feedback and co-design 
remain major focuses of our approach, 
and we have worked closely with sponsors 
and systems to collaboratively develop, 
adapt and evaluate our programs to ensure 
they are based on the latest research and 
learning approaches and meet the needs of 
participants and systems. Our overall program 
satisfaction rating, on average of 4.6 out of 
5, reflects our participants’ satisfaction with 
the high-quality and actionable learning they 
experienced in our programs. Follow-up 
research with participants up to 18 months 
after completing QELi programs found that 
our programs had a ‘major to significant’ 
impact on 80 per cent of our participants’ 
leadership practices, confirming the long-term 
positive influence of our programs on the 
sector. 

Clear Path Forward

The 2017-18 year was one of accelerated 
development for QELi as we delivered 
more programs to more participants than 
ever, built new alliances and strengthened 
existing ones, and worked to provide the 
highest- quality professional development and 
deliver value for money to our participants. 
We successfully completed our largest ever 
partnership arrangement with the Queensland 
Department of Education which increased our 
reach in schools across Queensland.

The experiences of this year have solidified 
our commitment to the QELi vision of 
excellence in education leadership and 
helped the organisation to further define our 
approach to achieve this. Relentless attention 
to our three strategic pillars — high-quality 
programs, collaboration and organisational 
strength — has allowed QELi to have a strong 
and positive impact this year and will continue 
to guide our approach into the future. In 
2018-19, we will continue to deliver the 
highest-impact programs at the best possible 
price, work closely with educational sectors 
and partners in industry, and operate as an 
efficient and high-functioning team to ensure 
the future success of the organisation. 

Neil McDonald
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QELi is an innovative not-for-profit 
organisation committed to delivering 
excellence in leadership by supporting 
education leaders to establish a strong vision, 
improve student outcomes and lead change 
in their school context and wider school 
communities. We support educators at every 
level – from teachers to principals and system 
leaders – and corporate services and school 
support staff to develop and improve capacity 
as leaders through the provision of high 
quality professional development programs 
and learning opportunities. 

Our leadership programs harness evidence-
based research, provide access to nationally 
and internationally renowned facilitators 
and coaches, and model the critical skills, 
knowledge and practical application to 

support educators to develop leadership 
capabilities, maximise their potential and 
reach their leadership goals.

Our History

QELi was established in September 
2010, as a direct response from a review 
commissioned by the Queensland 
government into the state’s 2008 National 
Assessment Program – Literacy and 
Numeracy (NAPLAN) performance. The 
Queensland Government engaged Professor 
Geoff Masters AO, Chief Executive Officer, 
Australian Council for Education Research, 
to review education in Queensland. His 
report, A Shared Challenge: Improving 
Literacy, Numeracy and Science Learning 
in Queensland Primary Schools contained 

five key recommendations, among them 
increased support for school leaders. 
We were the first institution of our kind 
in Australia, representing a unification of 
the interest of all three schooling sectors 
in Queensland – state, Catholic and 
independent – with the premise to lay 
the foundations for a new generation of 
skilled, visionary leaders for 21st century 
schools. Over the past eight years, we have 
established an outstanding reputation for 
excellence in education leadership and 
we continue to work extremely closely with 
Queensland’s education bodies – Department 
of Education, the Queensland Catholic 
Education Commission and Independent 
School Queensland – and education sectors 
across Australia.

About QELi

Our Vision

Excellence in Leadership

Our Mission

Empowering leaders to 
improve student, school, 

system and organisational 
outcomes through

high-quality professional 
learning.

Respect

We act with honesty, integrity and 
acknowledge the contribution and diversity 
of all.

Collaboration

We uphold professional standards towards 
our clients and each other, communicating 
openly and honestly, valuing honour in 
absence.

Excellence

As a team we are jointly focused on delivering 
and supporting high-quality programs and 
services with responsiveness, innovation and 
flexibility.

Our Values
Respect, Collaboration, 

Excellence

8



QELi is committed to delivering on its strategic 
pillars of high quality programs, collaboration 
and organisational strengths.
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High Quality Programs

QELi’s programs focus on developing 
leaders who can make a difference and 
change lives.

Each program is designed around the 
latest research making them evidence 
based and high impact for learners.
Our goal is to ensure all leaders across 
Queensland and beyond have access 
to our programs.

As part of our mission we want to 
work internationally with a belief that 
excellent leadership is the key to better 
global futures.

Collaboration

Exceptional leadership is underpinned 
by the ability to empower and unite 
others to achieve great results.

The Collaborative Leader is a 
cornerstone capability built into our 
programs as a lead behaviour.

Professional collaboration is also how 
we as a leadership institute work with 
and across our sectors, agencies and 
partners to make a difference and build 
success in organisations

Organisational 
Strength

As an organisation we focus on impact 
and service delivery.

The capacity within our organisation is 
built on our highly skilled staff and their 
ability to operate as a high functioning 
team.

QELi’s business strategy is supported 
by a high level awareness of our market 
needs with processes and technology 
enabling delivery of an exceptional 
customer experience.
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• High impact programs delivering 
measurable participant outcomes.

• Growth in participation, demand 
and reach, both nationally and 
internationally.

• Review and adjustment via 
feedback and evaluation of 
impact results.

• Work within and beyond 
Queensland to grow our impact, 
creating stronger collaborative 
leaders.

• Strengthen our alliances with our 
educational sectors and partners.

• Further develop industry 
partnerships.

• Connect strategically with 
corporate and other sponsors.

• Strive for a culture of high 
performance and collaboration 
by developing the capability and 
capacity of our staff.

• Enhance our customer 
experience by providing 
integrated and connected ICT 
solutions.

• Establish a strong financial base 
to grow a sustainable business.

• Develop a business that is 
responsive to external market 
requirements.

Strategic Objectives



QELi’s Leadership for School Improvement 
Framework comprises two parts: Leadership 
Framework and Behaviours of Effective 
Leaders. In collaboration with Vic Zbar, 
education consultant and widely published 
education and management author, we 
derived both elements from examining 
how effective leaders — within education 
and outside of the education arena — 
consistently drive change and improvement. 
We also considered themes for the future of 
leadership.

Our research clearly identified five consistent 
and evidence-based trends:

• Agile and adaptive
• Innovation and technologically savvy
• Collective leaders
• Mindfulness and emotional intelligence 
• A new generation of leaders

These five key characteristics, along with 
five leadership capabilities — knowledge, 
understanding, attitudes, skills and personal 
qualities — form the foundation of the 
Leadership Framework and Behaviours of 
Effective Leaders.

These are the core elements that we 
believe enable a leader to perform to a high 
standard in their role and the actions they 
must take to continually improve their school 
or educational environment. In addition, 
these elements contribute to a shared 
understanding and common language 
for leadership and how it is successfully 
enacted in schools. This in turn can guide 
the recruitment and selection of new leaders 
in schools, the design and delivery of 
professional learning and other development 
opportunities for leaders and aspiring leaders 
in schools, and the self-assessment and 
reflection that leaders undertake as they strive 
to continually improve.

Leadership Framework and Behaviours of
Effective Leaders
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Risk and 
Challenge

Disruptive
leadership

INNOVATIVE 
LEADER

Sustainability
and

Scalability

Entrepreneur

Curiosity Design
thinking

AGILE
LEADER

Professional 
conversations

Decision
making

Context

Leadership 
styles

Adaptive
leadership

Change

Distributed
leadership

Strategic
leadership

FOCUSED 
LEADER

Evidence

Accountability Leading
learning

Systemness

Ethics

Clarity

MINDFUL
LEADER 

Leading
self

Leading
othersValues

Resilience

Emotional
Intelligence

Growth
mindset

COLLECTIVE
LEADER

Vision 

Collaboration

Trust

Feedback

High 
performance 

teams

Engagement

CultureCoaching

(Hudson Talent Management: The Future of Leadership. Developed in conjunction with QELi, March 2017.)



Diagnosing performance and 
prescribing for improvement
Leaders need to be able to diagnose the 
overall health of their school/domain/
classroom so they can have precise focus and 
prioritise their work

Building teams to drive 
improvement
Leaders need to be able to pro-actively build 
leadership capability at all levels to drive 
improvement through the school/domain/
classroom with stakeholder support

Ensuring effective 
implementation of what matters 
most
Leaders need to be able to ensure that
their school/domain/classroom is run well
and that its energies are strategically focused

Leveraging the greatest source 
of improvement
Leaders need to be able to challenge and 
support more teachers to ensure consistency 
of evidence information and effective practice

Ensuring progress and keeping 
on track
Leaders need to be able to monitor the 
progress and impact of strategies as part of 
their ongoing work and redesign these as 
required

Behaviours of Effective Leaders

Leadership for School Improvement Matrix

BEHAVIOURS OF EFFECTIVE LEADERS

DIAGNOSING 
PERFORMANCE AND 
PRESCRIBING FOR 

IMPROVEMENT

Context Analysis

BUILDING TEAMS TO
DRIVE IMPROVEMENT

High Performing
Leadership Team

ENSURING EFFECTIVE 
IMPLEMENTATION OF
WHAT MATTERS MOST

Implementation

LEVERAGING THE GREATEST 
SOURCE OF IMPROVEMENT

Capability
Development

ENSURING PROGRESS
AND KEEPING

ON TRACK

Progress and Achievement

COLLECTIVE
LEADER

• Create an 
inspiring vision 
to engage all 
stakeholders

• Build a culture of 
evidence based 
improvement

• Establish a culture 
of collaboration

• Build high 
performing teams

• Develop a climate 
of trust

• Build commitment to 
improvement among 
all stakeholders

• Engage the 
community to focus 
on what’s important

• Influence others for 
successful collaborative 
planning

• Coach for individual and 
collective improvement

• Support collaborative 
classroom observation 
and feedback

• Celebrate success to 
motivate 

• Lead a culture 
of continuous 
improvement 

• Contribute beyond 
immediate professional 
context

FOCUSED
LEADER

• Use multiple 
sources of 
data to analyse 
performance

• Set goals for 
improvement

• Identify evidence 
based strategies 
for improvement

• Develop role clarity 
• Distribute and 

strengthen 
leadership 

• Inspire high 
expectations for all

• Lead learning to 
model expectations 
and maximise 
potential

• Develop a strategic 
plan to align 
activities, systems 
and processes 

• Prioritise work to be 
done

• Minimise distractions

• Develop commitment to 
a shared understanding 
of effective pedagogy

• Implement moderation 
processes to inform 
teaching and learning

• Ensure a whole school 
approach to curriculum 
planning 

• Promote a culture of 
accountability 

• Measure and evaluate 
impact

AGILE
LEADER

• Understand 
personal 
leadership style 

• Understand 
school climate 
and local context

• Reflect on 
leadership 
acknowledging 
the perspective of 
others 

• Lead others in a 
climate of volatility, 
uncertainty, 
complexity and 
ambiguity (VUCA)

• Align and realign 
resources to support 
priorities

• Lead professional 
conversations on 
what matters

• Lead evidence based 
conversations for 
feedback

• Model effective 
leadership behaviours 
to support staff 
capability development

• Model substantive 
conversations to 
ensure accountability 

• Monitor progress 
towards targets and 
adjust implementation 
as required

• Show courage to 
continue or to change

MINDFUL
LEADER

• Develop an 
awareness of 
others in relation 
to commitment to 
change

• Articulate core 
values

• Expand self-
awareness 

• Demonstrate 
emotionally 
intelligent 
behaviours to 
inspire performance 
of others 

• Recognise, reflect 
and actively improve 
self to support 
change

• Attend to wellbeing 
of self and others

• Develop a growth 
mindset in self and 
others

• Understand the 
neuroscience of 
conversations, 
collaboration and 
collective improvement

• Build resilience to 
be able to keep on 
track and overcome 
challenges

• Demonstrate empathy 
for success and 
failures

INNOVATIVE
LEADER

• Challenge the 
status quo

• Research 
alternatives 
through design 
thinking

• Model curiosity for 
professional growth

• Manage risk to 
ensure effective 
implementation

• Encourage informed 
risk-taking

• Lead innovation and 
change for impact

• Encourage enterprising 
behaviours to deal with 
complexity 

• Actively grow 
professional and 
personal capacity of 
self and others

• Ensure sustainability of 
initiatives and practices
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High-Quality Programs

QELi’s leadership development programs 
empower teachers, school leaders, corporate 
services and school support staff by providing 
the critical skills, knowledge and practical 
application they need to develop leadership 
capabilities, maximise their potential and 
reach their leadership goals.

Built from our Leadership Framework 
and Behaviours of Effective Leaders, and 
grounded in evidence-based research, our 
programs provide access to nationally and 
internationally renowned facilitators and 
coaches, include collegial examples of 
successful practice, and develop capabilities 
in leadership development, growth coaching, 
leading change, promoting trust, and 
developing high-performing teams. 

Our programs align with the professional 
practices outlined in the Australian 
Professional Standards for Teachers 
and Australian Professional Standard for 
Principals, Australian Institute for Teaching 
and School Leadership (AITSL).

During the 2017-18 financial year, QELi 
was proud to support 4,451 education 
leaders across Australia (state, Catholic and 
independent sectors) and internationally 
through 144 leadership development 
programs — a 47 per cent increase in 
participation rates compared to 2016-17 
and a 19 per cent increase in the number of 
programs facilitated.

12

Sector
Breakdown

In 2017-18, QELi participants 
included representatives from 

government and non-government 
systems and schools in 

Queensland and nationally, as 
well as participants from outside 
Australia and participants from 

non-education sectors.

3,436 participants  
from Queensland 
State Schools

77.2%

505 participants from 
Queensland Catholic 
education

11.3%

20 participants 
from non-education 
sectors

0.4%
70 participants 
from international 
systems and 
schools

1.6%

212 participants from 
Australian government 
and non-government 
schools outside 
Queensland

4.8%

208 participants 
independent schools4.7%

We pride ourselves on 
our ability to be agile, 
responsive and focused 
on supporting the 
direct, individual needs 
of schools and sectors, 
through the development 
of customised leadership 
programs, including co-
planning and co-facilitator 
collaboration.
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Capability Programs

Our capability and personal development programs in leading change, instructional leadership, 
promoting trust, and developing high-performing teams are designed to support all educators 
— from teachers through to principals and system leaders — as well as corporate services and 
school support staff to improve capacity as leaders. The programs provide a platform to gain 
critical skills and further knowledge irrespective of career experience.

Customised Programs

In addition to our leadership development program portfolio, we specialise in creating tailored 
professional development solutions to support the leadership needs of schools, systems and 
sectors. Customised programs are often delivered on campus at a time during the term that is 
suitable for the school, and they are highly collaborative, involving the school in co-planning and 
even co-presenting.

Leadership Development Pipeline Programs

Our longitudinal Leadership Development Pipeline Programs offer educators the opportunity to 
pursue a progressive continuum of leadership development learning. Programs are available for 
teachers, middle leaders, deputy principals, principals and sector leaders and can be customised 
for teams within schools and systems.

Growth Coaching and Accreditation Programs

In partnership with Growth Coaching International (GCI), we offer a suite of coaching programs 
for individual and whole-school professional development. The GCI coaching approach can be 
applied to a wide range of conversational contexts to create a culture of growth across a school 
and to support school leaders with giving constructive feedback, working with teams, influencing 
others, strengthening communication skills, managing challenging conversations and enhancing 
questioning, listening and clarifying skills.

Thought Leader Events

Grounded in contemporary evidence-based research, our one-day thought leader events deliver 
high-impact learning environments that unite and empower educators to improve student, school, 
system and organisational outcomes. These events provide excellent networking opportunities 
for learning, collaborating and sharing experiences. Recent speakers have included Maggie 
Farrar, Professor Michael Fullan, Tracey Ezard, Dr Lyn Sharratt, Dr Simon Breakspear and 
Emeritus Professor Dylan Wiliam.

Our Portfolio of Leadership Development Programs 



2017-18 Program Highlights
Leadership Development Pipeline Programs

QELi Leadership Development Pipeline 
Programs follow a nine-month, multi-modal 
structure and include face-to-face training 
days, a school-based leadership challenge, 
coaching and reflective learning. 

Pipeline programs include:

• Leadership for Teachers
• Leadership for Middle Leaders
• Leadership for Deputy Principals 
• Leadership for Principals
• Leadership for Experienced Principals

In 2017-18, we supported 348 participants 
through 17 programs, with significant 
demand for programs to assist middle 
leaders. We responded to this need by 
facilitating 12 programs — Leadership 
Pipeline programs and customised 
programs requested by schools and sectors 
— involving 355 middle leaders across 
government and non-government sectors in 
Queensland and Hong Kong.

Middle Leaders Program,
Hong Kong
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Capability Programs
Programs focusing on leading change, promoting trust and developing high performing teams for educators and 
corporate and school support staff from all sectors.

Growth Coaching and Accreditation Programs
Programs to support school leaders with giving constructive feedback, working with teams, influencing others,
strengthening communication skills, managing challenging conversations and enhancing questioning,
listening and clarifying skills.

Thought Leader Events
One-day national and international thought leader events
that deliver high impact learning environments.

Inquiry cycles, evidence-based practice, classrom observation and feedback, collaborative evaluation

Leadership for
Teachers
Program

Leadership for
Middle Leaders 

Program

Middle Leaders 
Masterclass

Leadership for 
Deputy Principals 

Program

Deputy
Principals

Masterclass

Leadership for
Principals
Program

Leadership
for Experienced

Principals
Program

Experienced
Principals

Masterclass

System leaderExperienced principalNew principalAssociate leaderMiddle leaderExperienced teacherEarly career

Teaching Quality

Principal Leadership

QELi Leadership Development Pipeline Programs



Leadership for Teachers

The Leadership for Teachers Program is intended for teachers who have high potential as future 
leaders and supports regions to develop the next generation of school, regional and system leaders.

Leadership for Middle Leaders

The Leadership for Middle Leaders Program enables middle leaders across all schooling sectors 
to gain exposure to, and learn from, high quality leadership practice, with a particular focus on the 
effective leadership of teaching and learning.

Leadership for Deputy Principals

The Leadership for Deputy Principals Program equips high performance school leaders with the 
knowledge, skills and confidence to effectively lead and develop others.

Leadership for Principals

The Leadership for Principals Program is designed to challenge participants in both the operational 
and strategic aspects of their role.

Leadership for Experienced Principals

The Leadership for Experienced Principals Program supports principals to remain current and 
challenged in this exciting and ever changing environment.

15

In 2017-18, QELi collaborated with 
Independent Schools Queensland to 
deliver leadership development training to 
more than 80 middle leaders. The training, 
facilitated by QELi, was a module based 
program where leaders choose to complete 
some, or all, of the four modules over a six to 
nine month period. Each module addressed 
topical leadership themes including:

• Contemporary leadership
• High performing teams
• Difficult conversations 
• Leading from the middle

QELi and Independent Schools Queensland –
Middle Leaders Workshops

[The presenter’s] knowledge 
and presentation was engaging, 
relevant and humorous.
Thank you!

Middle Leaders Workshop 
participant

This course appears to be 
working well for what I need at 
this particular point in time.

Middle Leaders Workshop 
participant

Very relevant session today. 
Thank you.

Middle Leaders Workshop 
participant



2017-18 Program Highlights 
Capability Programs

Our Capability Programs support teachers 
through to principals and system leaders, as 
well as corporate services and school support 
staff, to build capacity as leaders in enacting 
change, fostering instructional leadership, 
promoting trust and developing high-
performing teams. In 2017-18, we delivered 
Capability Programs to 680 participants 
across 30 programs. 

Through our partnerships with FranklinCovey, 
Uncommon Schools, School Councils QLD 
and Board Matters, together we supported 
468 educators and members of the wider 
school community to develop their leadership 
capabilities.

Teach Like A Champion

Uncommon Schools’ Teach Like A Champion is a one-month, multi-phase ‘train the trainer’ program 
that equips participants with the skills to return to their school and train colleagues to design, install 
and maintain systems and routines that students do automatically and with little to no teacher 
prompting in their classrooms.

Leading Numeracy

Leading Numeracy is a nine-month, multi-phase, blended learning program designed to equip 
participants with knowledge, capabilities and attitudes for leading high-quality numeracy practices 
to achieve exemplary mathematics outcomes.

Leading Literacy

Leading Literacy is a nine-month, multi-phase, blended learning program designed to equip 
participants with the tools to embed high-quality literacy practices and to influence change, 
improving the literacy skills of all students.

Coaching Through Instructional Leadership

Coaching Through Instructional Leadership is a five-month program that focuses on building 
leadership and coaching knowledge to develop effective coaches who can lead and drive 
pedagogical improvement.

Building Dynamic School Councils Workshop

Building Dynamic School Councils (managed in partnership by QELi, School Councils QLD and 
Board Matters) is a rich, research-based and evidence-focused workshop that supports state 
schools to develop robust and strategic school councils. 
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QELi and Springwood Road State School –
7 Habits of Highly Effective People

We had the pleasure of collaborating with 
Springwood Road State School leading 
into the 2018 school year by facilitating 
two whole-school learning days through 
a customised 7 Habits of Highly Effective 
People workshop. QELi Director of Programs 
Christopher Thomas delivered the program to 
a team of more than 60 educators and school 
support staff. The School’s P&C Association 
generously supported the training.

[The] delivery was amazing! So proud of our amazing staff 
for being so open and willing to self-reflect in order to 
become the best people and teachers possible. Our school is 
so invigorated, all thanks to our supportive P&C!

7 Habits of Highly Effective People and 7 Habits of Highly Effective 
People Masterclass

FranklinCovey’s 7 Habits of Highly Effective People is a three-month, multi-phase program that 
examines principles of effectiveness that can be applied to enhance efficiency and achieve a 
balanced life. The 7 Habits Masterclass is an additional one-month program that re-discovers the
7 Habits.

High Performing Teams Through Speed of Trust Masterclass

FranklinCovey’s High Performing Teams Through Speed of Trust Masterclass is a one-month,
multi-phase program that develops the mindset, skillset and toolset to help participants improve 
trust in their context — both trust in self and trust in teams.

7 Habits of Highly Effective People
Springwood Road State School
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2017-18 Program Highlights
Growth Coaching and Accreditation Programs 

In conjunction with Growth Coaching 
International (GCI), we offer an extensive 
portfolio of growth-coaching and accreditation 
programs, ranging from programs to support 
the development of core coaching leadership 

and skills, through to advanced programs 
that take coaching to a deeper level and can 
qualify for university-accredited prior learning 
status at postgraduate level.

During the year, Growth Coaching and 
Accreditation Programs were delivered to 347 
participants through 16 programs.

18

QELi Growth Coaching Program Portfolio 

DEVELOP CORE COACHING AND LEADERSHIP SKILLS

Foundations of Coaching

A one-day program that introduces coaching skills, including 
building trust, influencing others and giving honest feedback, so 
individuals can effectively support the development of others and 
enhance levels of motivation and commitment.

Introduction to Leadership Coaching

A very practical two-day program that introduces participants to 
leadership coaching and explores developing trust, active listening 
and constructive feedback skills. 

Coaching Accreditation Program – Phases 1-3

A three phase, four-day program for educational leaders who wish 
to build coaching skills and develop skills and tools for effective 
coaching of staff, students and the wider community. You will 
explore developing trust, giving constructive feedback and building 
questioning and listening skills.

MOVE ON TO COACHING APPLICATIONS

Peer Coaching

A two-day program suitable for pairs of teachers who are already 
working collaboratively together. You will explore giving and 
receiving feedback; questioning, listening and clarifying coaching 
skills; and using classroom observational data to develop 
classroom practices. 

Collegial Coaching

A two-day program for senior leaders to explore an aspect of 
leadership practice designed to enhance their own performance, 
wellbeing and conversation skills, by working with a chosen 
colleague in a reciprocal coaching relationship.

Growing Effective Teams

A three-day program for educators that builds the effectiveness 
of teams through a coaching approach. The program provides 
an enhanced awareness of, and confidence to respond to, the 
complexities of using a coaching approach with teams, including 
managing multiple voices, power differences and building trust.

Managing Challenging Conversations

A one-day advanced program for educators who have experience 
using the GROWTH model and are currently working in leadership 
roles. You will gain techniques for managing challenging 
conversations, providing constructive feedback, building trust and 
enhancing relationship skills.

Growing High Trust Relationships

A one-day interactive and practical program offering the opportunity 
for greater awareness of self - and others - through an interpersonal, 
flexible and rapport-driven approach to leadership and coaching for 
greater impact.

Anyone, Anytime Individual Executive Coaching Private individual coaching to focus on enhancing performance, wellbeing and success.



2016 -17 2017-18

Participants Program(s) Participants Percentage 
increase (%)

Programs Percentage 
increase (%)

Coaching Accreditation Program Phases 1–3 158 7 190 20.3 9 28.6

Introduction to Leadership Coaching 67 4 105 56.7 5 25

Peer Coaching: Positive Conversations About 
Teaching Practices

29 1 52 79.3 2 100

Participation rates for Coaching Accreditation 
Program Phases 1–3, Introduction to 
Leadership Coaching and Peer Coaching: 
Positive Conversations about Teaching 
Practices increased significantly in 2017-18 
compared to the 2016-17 financial year:

GCI Executive Director John Campbell and QELi Chief 
Executive Officer Neil McDonald

 — The Power of Coaching for Learning Success

In April 2018, we announced a new 
partnership with GCI, further strengthening 
our association of more than seven years. 
With the support of GCI, we are now taking 
coaching-focused professional development 
programs directly to schools across 
Queensland, providing rural and regional 
educators with greater access to training 
and allowing on-campus whole-school or 
small-team coaching programs. Read more 
on page 27.
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TAKE YOUR COACHING TO A DEEPER LEVEL

Advanced Coaching - Solutions Focus Masterclass

A two-day program that incorporates the Solutions Focused 
approach into coaching conversations. You will explore a tool-based 
approach to help you respond better to others, build skills to use 
coaching models flexibly and build greater confidence to coach in a 
wider variety of contexts. 

Coaching Accreditation Program – Phase 4

Option 1: GCI Standard Accreditation Pathway
Option 2: Skills Sharpening

Completion of Phase 4 provides full Growth Coaching International 
Coaching Accreditation which attracts university accredited prior 
learning status at post-graduate level.

Anyone, Anytime Individual Executive Coaching Private individual coaching to focus on enhancing performance, wellbeing and success.



2017-18 Program Highlights
Thought Leader Events 

Grounded in contemporary evidence-based 
research, our thought leader events deliver 
high-impact learning environments that 
unite and empower educators to improve 
student, school and system outcomes. In 
2017-18, we were fortunate to host national 
and international thought leaders — Dr Jim 
Watterson, Professor Michael Fullan OC, 
Professor Donna Pendergast, Maggie Farrar, 
Tracey Ezard, Dr Cameron Brooks, Emeritus 
Professor Dylan Wiliam, Dr Simon Breakspear 

and Dr Lyn Sharratt — for our Special 
Leadership Event series, which included a 
large-scale two-day event in October 2017 
and four one-day events in 2018. 

In total, 842 educators attended these events 
and enjoyed the opportunity to collaborate 
with, and gain insight from, world-renowned 
leaders. Our events with Dr Lyn Sharratt 
and Emeritus Professor Dylan Wiliam were 
particular highlights, selling out well in 

advance of the occasion. We are proud to 
have been the first organisation to bring 
Emeritus Professor Dylan Wiliam to Brisbane, 
with the event becoming the largest we’ve 
ever hosted: we welcomed more than 300 
education leaders to the Brisbane Hilton in 
March 2018.

A Snapshot from our Thought Leader Events

Collaboration, Coherence and Feedback, October 2017

Feedback and Learning — Dr Cameron Brooks, School of
Education, University of Queensland

The Power of Collaboration — Maggie Farrar, Director, Farrar Chapman

Exploring the Coherence Framework — Michael Fullan OC,
Global Leadership Director, New Pedagogies for Deep Learning 

Collaboration is critical to 
changing teaching and learning 
practice … there is so much 
evidence to show that if we 
don’t do [it], if we continue to 
work in our silos, we will not 
get the results we are after, 
and I think QELi is doing a 
great job in bringing this to the 
consciousness and bringing 
together people who are talking 
around creating and cultivating 
that collaborative culture.

Building Thriving and Collaborative Staff 
Learning Cultures that Create Momentum

 — Tracey Ezard, Professional Triber and 
author of Glue: The Stuff that Binds us 

Together to do Extraordinary Work
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Embedding Formative Assessment with Emeritus Professor Dylan Wiliam, March 2018

We can no longer have an education system which 
generates a small number of successfully academic people 
… every student is going to need to be a knowledge worker 
in the future which means we need better teachers. 
The only way to get better teachers is to help every 
single teacher get better, and that’s the job of leadership 
organisations like QELi. 

Emeritus Professor Dylan Wiliam, Educational 
Assessment, University College London

We have to create a culture where 
every teacher gets better, not because 
they are not good enough, but because 
they get even better. And, when our 
teachers are better, our students learn 
more, are healthier, live longer and 
contribute more to society.

Today was a thorough, thought 
provoking day that challenged 
me to change professionally and 
to encourage those I work with 
to build their own capacity and 
capability.

Nicole Elkins, 
Instrumental Music Specialist, 

Robina State School

Dr Lyn Sharratt, Associate, Ontario Institute for Studies in Education, 
University of Toronto

Putting FACES on the Data with Dr Lyn Sharatt, May/June 2018

Simon is a highly engaging 
presenter who understands a 
range of educational contexts 
and encourages leaders to suit 
the sprint model to fit our teams/
school. Simon is approachable and 
explains his content extremely well.

Tara Byrne,
Helensvale State High School

Head of Department

Dr Simon Breakspear,
Founder and Executive Director, Agile Schools

Foundations of Learning Sprints with Dr Simon Breakspear, May 2018
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2017-18 Program Highlights
Queensland Department of Education State School Programs

In the culminating year of our partnership with 
the Queensland Department of Education, 
we delivered 22 programs to 978 educators 
in Queensland state schools. Overall, since 
the commencement of our partnership on 2 
December 2016, we have supported 3,007 
educators through 35 programs, and we 
are proud to have been able to take our 
professional development programs out to 
leaders in rural and remote areas. 

A significant focus of our partnership was 
to support the development of beginning 
and early career teachers. In 2017-18, with 
the Queensland Department of Education, 
we successfully facilitated a state-wide 
conference attended by 479 beginning 
teachers and supported all regions with the 
development of Regional Connect Days for 
beginning teachers.

In conjunction with the Queensland University 
of Technology, we trained 250 mentors across 
the state to support beginning teachers as 
they transition into the teaching profession.

In partnership with the Queensland 
Department of Education, Griffith University 
and the University of Southern Queensland, 
we designed and delivered two online 
professional learning programs to build the 
capability of intercultural understanding 
of Japan and China in non-language 
primary teachers and to enhance language 
proficiency of existing teachers of Japanese 
and Chinese.

We delivered a further offering of last 
year’s successful online STEM Professional 
Development and Upskilling program — 
designed to build capability of state school 
teachers delivering the STEM curriculum — in 
partnership with the Queensland Department 
of Education and Griffith University.

Five hundred teachers from across 
Queensland engaged in this professional 
learning program, and both the language and 
STEM programs supported the Queensland 
Government's Advancing Education: action 
plan for education in Queensland.

We delivered the fifth cohort of the Aspiring 
Special Education Leaders for Queensland 
Program, enabling participants to work 
collaboratively with experienced special 
education leaders in schools and build 
capability through a focused approach to 
leadership.

We continued to facilitate the Aspiring 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Leaders 
Program, working with the fourth cohort of 
the program this year. The program identifies 
and supports the capability development 
of aspirational leaders through a focused 
approach to leadership and enables 
participants to work with experienced leaders 
in schools. 
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Total number of beginning 
teachers supported via 
Regional Connect Days in 
2017-18

North Coast 
participants72

Far North 
Queensland 
participants

113

Metropolitan 
participants648

South East 
participants

405

Central 
Queensland 
participants

170
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QELi and the Queensland Department of Education Beginning Teacher 
Conference and Regional Connect Days

State-wide Beginning Teacher Conference, December 2017

This has been an amazing 
experience. I feel confident, 
supported, aware and ready to 
move into 2018 as a new teacher.

I feel everything that was presented 
spoke to me. I think I have a clearer 
understanding of a year’s worth of 
growth, and the impact that we have in 
our professional community and on our 
students.

Beginning Teacher Regional Connect Day — 
Metropolitan Region, May 2018

Beginning Teacher Regional Connect Day — Metropolitan Region, August 2017

Beginning Teacher
Conference participant

Regional Connect Day participant



2017-18 Program Highlights
Customised Programs

In 2017-18, we continued our commitment 
to supporting schools and systems across 
Australia and internationally by collaborating 
with educators to develop tailored programs 
to meet the ongoing and changing needs of 
educational contexts. We delivered programs 
to schools and systems across Australia, from 
Far North Queensland to Western Australia, 
and even Hong Kong.

Of the 144 programs that QELi delivered 
in 2017-18, 91 programs were customised, 
developed in direct response to an identified 
need. 

We are proud of our ability to respond to 
requests of support from colleagues to meet 
professional development needs, and we 
encourage co-planning and co-facilitating 
of many of these programs, truly fostering 
and cultivating collaboration and maximising 
teaching and learning practices. 

Customised programs that QELi developed 
and delivered in 2017-18 included:

• Whole-school and executive team 
leadership growth coaching

• Sector executive leadership 
development 

• High-Performing Learning Cultures
• Leading Inclusive School Practices
• Developing Trust
• Coaching for Instructional Leadership
• High-Performing Leadership Teams
• Future Leaders

Our Executive Development for Educational 
Leaders Program (Catholic Sector) was 
established five years ago in partnership with 
Catholic dioceses across Australia, for the 
purpose of providing strategic leadership 
professional development for principals and 
system leaders wanting to contribute to, 
and lead, the sector’s response to ensuring 
innovative, exciting and responsive schooling 
for all young people.

A 12-month program, Executive Development 
for Educational Leaders involves:

• Intensive three-and four-day face-to-
face workshops to review current and 
future trends in education policy, explore 
innovative teaching and learning in the 
21st Century and understand personal 
leadership styles and the complexities 
of large organisations and team 
collaboration

• One-to-one executive coaching and 
mentoring sessions,

• A two-week international study tour to 
New York, USA and Ontario, Canada

• Submission of a reflective research 
paper focusing on individual leadership 
capabilities and personal learnings.

In 2017-18, nine senior leaders from Catholic 
Schools Office Wagga Wagga, Sydney 
Catholic Schools and Catholic Education 
Diocese of Cairns, led by program facilitator 
Christopher Thomas (Director of Programs), 
participated in the program and, in May 
2018, embarked on a two-week international 
professional learning study tour to New York 
City, and Toronto, Canada.
 
The group visited 14 educational institutes 
and schools, participating in observations 
and workshops, and had the opportunity to 
collaborate with thought leaders from Ontario 
Institute for Studies in Education, University 
of Toronto (Dr Lyn Sharratt and Emeritus 
Professor Kenneth Leithwood) and Catherine 
McCullough, Director of Education and 
Founder, CMC Leadership. 

We are sincerely grateful to our partners 
in New York and Toronto for opening 
their schools and institutions to our 
leaders, enabling the group to see school 
improvement practices in action. 

Thank you for a rich and 
transformational learning 
experience. I would recommend 
this program to others. It is 
grounded in contemporary 
research and the excellent 
structure of the course builds 
networking as well as skills. 
It was challenging — calling 
participants to action — but the 
QELi staff and external experts 
are highly supportive. This was 
a quality leadership program 
that is agile in responding 
to evaluation and constantly 
reviewed to remain relevant.

2018 Executive Development
for Education Leaders

Program participant

 Visiting the Island School with 
 Dr Lyn Sharratt

QELi and Senior Catholic Educators – Executive Development for
Education Leaders
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The opportunity to dissect and 
analyse Australian contemporary 
education and then cross reference 
with international education was 
invaluable.

Matt Kean, Principal,
Holy Spirit School, Lavington

QELi, Griffith University and the Queensland Department of Education – 
Leadership Capability to Support Student Engagement

Supporting young people to remain engaged 
in school and achieve strong academic 
outcomes is critical to improving their future 
prospects. In 2018, QELi, with research 
partner Griffith University, conducted the 
Youth Engagement Capabilities Project for 
the Department of Education. This project 
involved primary research with 15 state 
schools to identify what capabilities within 

the school team contribute to higher levels of 
student engagement and stronger academic 
outcomes. Evidence-based findings from the 
project will contribute to the government’s 
broader efforts to support youth engagement 
and achievement.

Ayr State High School 

QELi and the Northern Territory Department of Education Partnering for 
Innovative Change – Developing High Potential Leaders to Drive System, 
School and Student Outcomes 

The Darwin Region of the Northern Territory 
Department of Education approached 
QELi to develop a customised, longitudinal, 
innovative and comprehensive leadership 
program to develop their next future leaders. 
Based around the principle of selecting 
high potential future leaders, the program 
also incorporated current research into 
high impact leadership programs. The key 
elements within the program included multiple 
face-to-face sessions, coaching, mentoring 

by/or shadowing an experienced principal 
from the system, online learning and thought 
leader presentations. The program received 
outstanding evaluations from participants 
and region and system leaders, and this 
way of working – a collaborative approach 
between the Northern Territory Department of 
Education and QELi – has had a significant 
impact across the Darwin Region. The 
ultimate outcome was reform and re-
energisation for the Darwin Region and QELi.

Our evidence has demonstrated leadership 
preparation that encompasses principals, 
participants, system leaders and professional 
learning organisations is the key to ongoing 
leadership development to improve 
outcomes for all. We are now incorporating 
this experience into other partnerships and 
learning programs.

Pictured: Executive Development for Education Leaders Program participants with Emeritus
Professor Kenneth Leithwood, Ontario Institute for Studies in Education, University of Toronto

and Catherine McCullough, Director of Education and Founder, CMC Leadership
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Collaboration

Exceptional leadership is underpinned by the 
ability to empower and unite others to achieve 
great results. Professional collaboration is how 
we, as a leadership institute, work within and 
across our sectors, agencies and partners 
to make a difference and build success in 
organisations. In 2017-18, our focus remained 
on collaborating with industry colleagues and 
strengthening our relationship with education 
stakeholders including Queensland’s three 
education sectors — Department of Education, 
Queensland Catholic Education Commission 
and Independent Schools Queensland — 
universities, professional associations, private 
sector leadership development providers, and 
regional and remote clusters. 
 
We remained committed to working within 
and beyond Queensland to grow our impact, 
creating stronger collaborative leaders across 
Australia and strengthening and developing 
strategic alliances with educational sector 
partners here and internationally. As a 
not-for-profit leadership institute, we are 
committed to supporting the educational 
community through sponsorship and support 
for major conferences, and we are a frequent 
contributor to strategic reforms that will affect 
professional standards for Australian teachers 
and school leaders. 

In 2017-18 we attended and exhibited at 
seven education conferences and events 
across Australia and in conjunction with 
Catholic Education Services Diocese of 
Cairns, we presented at the International 
Congress for School Effectiveness and 
Improvement (ICSEI) Conference in 
Singapore. These activities provided QELi 
with the opportunity to see many past 
program participants and to hear how our 
programs have successfully supported 
personal leadership development journeys. 
We hosted two QELi Boardroom Breakfast 
events with guest speakers Dr Jim Watterston 
and Tony Cook PSM, bringing together 
60 education leaders from schools, 
sectors, higher education institutions and 
associations, encouraging collaboration and 
helping to strengthen networks.

We collaborated with international educators 
on three leadership development initiatives 
during 2017-18. Our Director of Programs, 
Christopher Thomas, travelled to Hong 
Kong to deliver our highly regarded Middle 
Leaders Program to a delegation of leaders 
from Bishops College Colombo, Sri Lanka. In 
partnership with the Queensland Department 
of Education International, we hosted leaders 
from IAB Malaysia (a training institute of 
the Malaysian Department of Education) 

for a six-day program — Benchmarking and 
Professional Enhancement — which included 
visits to schools in Brisbane and the South 
East Queensland region, in addition to training 
provided by QELi facilitators. We further 
supported the Queensland Department of 
Education International by providing training 
to a delegation of Indonesian leaders 
focusing on leadership and management, 
leading school improvement, coaching and 
feedback. 

During the year we signed a memorandum 
of understanding with RHT Education 
(Jiangsu Province, China) to encourage and 
strengthen education exchanges and to 
provide opportunities for ongoing educational 
leadership collaborations for educators 
in Australia and China. We look forward 
to working with RHT Education on future 
initiatives. 

Visitors from IAB Malaysia at QELi
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Boardroom Breakfast with 
Tony Cook PSM

May 2018

Boardroom Breakfast with 
Dr Jim Watterston

November 2017



QELi and Growth Coaching International Strengthen Partnership 
In April 2018, we announced a new 
partnership with GCI, further strengthening 
our association of more than seven years. 
With the support of GCI, we are now 
delivering coaching-focused professional 
development programs directly to schools 
across Queensland, providing rural and 
regional educators with greater access to 
training and allowing on-campus whole-
school or small-team coaching programs. 

Coaching in education is increasingly 
recognised as a key element in strong 
leadership and a crucial component in 
driving sustainable school improvement. 
By strengthening ties with GCI, QELi is 
furthering its commitment to supporting 
the development of Queensland teachers, 
ensuring accessibility to all and enhancing 
learning outcomes for students in 
Queensland. This new arrangement now 
allows QELi’s and GCI’s coaching expertise 
and highly regarded programs — including 
Introduction to Leadership Coaching, 
Coaching Accreditation Program Phase 1–3 
and Peer Coaching: Positive Conversations 
about Teaching Practices — to reach more 
educators and ultimately support more 
students. 

To mark the occasion, we held an official 
breakfast launch where 27 senior educators 
joined QELi Chief Executive Officer Neil 
McDonald and GCI Executive Director John 
Campbell for a special growth-coaching 
event — The Power of Coaching for Learning 
Success. 

We were proud to receive 
national media attention: The 
Educator Today and Education 
Matters Magazine both shared 
our announcement, and 
Australian Teacher Magazine’s 
LeadershipED published a three-
page growth-coaching feature 
including interviews with Neil 
McDonald and John Campbell. 

We look forward to supporting 
more schools and regions with 
growth-coaching initiatives and 
programs in 2018-19.

QELi Chief Executive Officer
Neil McDonald and GCI Executive 

Director John Campbell — The Power 
of Coaching for Learning Success. 

Catholic Diocese of Cairns 2018 Executive Development for Education Leaders Program
Pictured from left: Vicki Bell, David Adam-Jones, Wayne Wood, Ruth Mallon, Gavin Rick and Neil McDonald

A partnership between Catholic Education Services Diocese of Cairns
and QELi
As part of Catholic Education’s nationwide 
system reform, which promotes a culture of 
co-responsibility and subsidiarity focused 
on wellbeing and learning for all students, 
the Diocese of Cairns partnered with QELi 
and encouraged senior diocese leaders to 
participate in the Executive Development for 
Educational Leaders Program — a 12-month, 
nationwide leadership development program 
involving a two-week study tour to New York 
and Toronto, Canada. 

The impact of this partnership, and the 
diocese’s ongoing participation in this 
program and other QELi leadership

programs, has reverberated across its 
entire reform process, influencing system 
and school structures, educational reform 
strategies and partnerships and individual 
capacities. The diocese’s schools and 
classrooms are changing, its national and 
international education networks have 
multiplied, and it is constantly learning, 
framing and reframing its reform processes. A 
shared vision of leadership and collaboration 
supported by high-impact, evidence-based 
professional learning and a focus on 
program design and evaluation underpin 
the work between QELi and the diocese. 
Critical elements include an embedded 

Catholic focus, system and school leaders 
learning together, practical research, a study 
tour, learning with and from international 
educational thought leaders, and national 
and international networking. A long-term 
commitment from QELi to maintain the unique 
components and quality of the program, and 
an ongoing willingness to co-collaborate, 
remains pivotal. The ultimate outcome has 
been reform and re-energising for both the 
Diocese of Cairns and QELi.
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QELi Board

2017-18 QELi Board Directors
(Board Directors for all or part of the financial year)

Professor Donna Pendergast is Dean and 
Head, School of Education and Professional 
Studies at Griffith University.  Donna 
has an international profile in the field of 
teacher education, particularly in the Junior 
Secondary years of schooling, which focuses 
on the unique challenges of teaching and 
learning in the early adolescent years. She 
has successfully completed competitive 
research tenders commissioned by state and 
federal authorities valued over $4.5 million 
and has 19 books and more than 120 peer 
reviewed publications relevant to the field of 
education published. 

Donna has worked in P-10, secondary 
and secondary colleges as a classroom 
teacher and administrator. Her academic 
career includes her appointment to lead 
and develop the first dedicated middle years 
teacher education program in Australia at 
the University of Queensland, more than a 
decade ago. Since this time she has been 
a prominent player in the state and national 

agendas related to junior secondary reform 
in Australia. She developed a reform model 
which was adapted for use by the Victorian 
Curriculum and Assessment Authority to 
transform practice in the early years and in 
the Queensland Department of Education 
to underpin the shift of Year 7 to secondary 
schools and the introduction of Junior 
Secondary for Years 7-9.  In 2017, Donna 
received a National Commendation from the 
Australian Council of Graduate Research 
Award for Excellence in Graduate Research 
Supervision and in 2018 she received 
the Miller-Grassie Award for Outstanding 
Leadership in Education, presented by 
the Australian Council for Educational 
Leadership.

Special responsibilities:
Chair of Board
Member of the Audit and Finance Committee

Professor Donna Pendergast
BAppSc, GDip Teaching, MEdu (Hons), PhD

Board Chair and Director

Board Responsibility

The Board’s responsibility is to act in good 
faith and the best interests of the company 
for a proper purpose. Its key responsibilities 
include providing leadership, direction, 
strategy and high-level stakeholder 
management; ensuring compliance (legal, 
financial and risk management) through 
its committee structure; and monitoring 
performance of financial and program 
outcomes.

Board Sub-Committee

Audit and Finance Committee

The Audit and Finance Committee supports 
the Board in matters requiring intensive review 
and provides assistance to the Board in 
fulfilling its responsibilities regarding QELi’s 
constitution. The committee has a Board-
approved written charter defining its duties, 
reporting procedures and authority. Its main 
functions include provision of overarching 
governance and management of financial 
reporting processes, risk management 
frameworks, systems and internal controls, 
and external audit.

Audit and Finance Committee 
Members

Paul Paxton-Hall
Committee Chair and Board Director

Professor Donna Pendergast
Board Chair

Dr Lee-Anne Perry AM
Board Director

Kris Isles
Board Director
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Paul Paxton-Hall
BCom, LLB (Hons), LLM, FCIS

Deputy Board Chair and Director

Paul Paxton-Hall has been practising in 
the commercial and property fields of the 
law for more than 35 years. Paul regularly 
advises commercial clients, small to medium 
enterprises and professional organisations, 
as well as church-based and other not-for-
profit organisations. His areas of expertise 
include contracting, directors’ and officers’ 
liability and associated risk management, tax 
and estate planning, corporate governance, 
company structuring, and mergers and 
acquisitions. Paul is a member of the 
compliance committee of the All Hallows’ 
School board, a director of Arbonne 
Charitable Foundation, a member of the Law 
Society's Not-for-Profit Committee, a Fellow 
of the Governance Institute of Australia, and 

a member of both the Society of Tax & Estate 
Planning Lawyers and the Taxation Institute 
of Australia.

Special responsibilities:
Deputy Chair of the Board
Chair of the Audit and Finance Committee

Kris Isles
BCom, ACA

Director (appointed 22 November 2017)

Kris Isles’s career spans 20 years in 
consulting, with significant experience in the 
education sector, where he has been involved 
in extensive transformation and other projects 
across early childhood, schools, vocational 
education and universities. Kris brings a 
broad range of expertise around program and 
change management blended with a good 
understanding of financial management and 
a practical and collaborative approach to 
ensuring lasting change in an organisation. 
He holds a Bachelor of Commerce 
(Accounting) and is a Member of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants in Australia and 
New Zealand.

Special responsibilities:
Member of the Audit and Finance Committee

Josephine Wise is Director, Education 
Services at Independent Schools 
Queensland. She leads teams that support 
quality teaching and school leadership, 
educational research , and other student and 
school services. Josephine commenced 
her career teaching in Lutheran schools, 
where she worked for more than 10 years. 
She was national Manager of Policy and 
Programs (Professional Learning) at the 
Australian Institute for Teaching and School 
Leadership (AITSL) and was responsible for 
a shaping phase in a curriculum project with 
the Australian Curriculum, Assessment and 
Reporting Authority (ACARA).

Josephine holds a Master of Education with 
a focus on leadership and management, 
is a Director of the Queensland College 
of Teachers and chairs its Audit and Risk 
Committee. She is a member of faculty 
advisory boards for Southern Cross University 
and Griffith University.

Josephine Wise
BA, Grad Dip Ed, MEd, GAICD

Director (appointed 22 November 2017)
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Dr Lee-Anne Perry AM
DEd, MEd, BEd (Hons), DipCL

Director (appointment concluded June 

2018)

Dr Lee-Anne Perry AM commenced as 
the Executive Director of the Queensland 
Catholic Education Commission on 27 July 
2015. Dr Perry was most recently Principal 
of All Hallows’ School, Brisbane, and she 
has provided outstanding leadership to 
that community since 1999. Prior to taking 
up that appointment, Dr Perry served as 
Principal of Mt Alvernia College, Kedron 
(1993–1998) and of Mt Carmel College, 
Wynnum (1990–1992), following a teaching 
career in state and Catholic schools both 
in New South Wales and Queensland. 
She holds a Doctor of Education from the 
Queensland University of Technology, a 
Master of Education, Bachelor of Education 
and Diploma of Christian Leadership. 
In 2009, Dr Perry was appointed as the 
Catholic Religious Australia (Queensland) 

representative on the Queensland Catholic 
Education Commission (QCEC), and, until her 
appointment as Executive Director, she was 
the Deputy Chair of the QCEC. Over many 
years, she has also served the commission as 
a member of the QCEC Finance Committee, 
Executive Committee, Industrial Relations 
Committee and Political Action Advisory 
Subcommittee. In 2011, she was recognised 
as an outstanding leader by the Australian 
Council for Educational Leaders, and in 2014 
was awarded the Member (AM) of the Order 
of Australia.

Special responsibilities:
Member of the Audit and Finance Committee

As an educator for 28 years, Leanne Nixon 
has worked with a range of students in 
environments across Queensland, from 
the coalfields of Central Queensland to the 
outback community of Cunnamulla. She 
was Foundation Principal of the Queensland 
Academy for Health Sciences based at Griffith 
University on the Gold Coast and gained 
further insight into a wide range of schools 
across Queensland during her time as a 
Teaching and Learning Auditor.

After leading the Independent Public Schools 
team in Central Office, Leanne was appointed 
to the role of Assistant Director-General, State 
Schools — Performance, where her current 
priority is to develop innovative strategies to 
drive school improvement.

Leanne Nixon
DEdu, MEdu, EDQ, ACEL, WAFL

Director (appointment concluded May 

2018)

Jacquita Miller is the Principal of Aspley State 
High School, a comprehensive co-educational 
secondary school in Brisbane’s north. A 
school leader for over 20 years, Jacquita has 
expertise in leadership for the improvement of 
teaching and learning.

Jacquita has a particular interest in 
improving classroom practice and teacher 
leadership capacity. She has presented 
widely on these topics and has been a key 
leader in developing effective school-based 

Jacquita Miller
BA, GDip Teaching

Director (appointment concluded July 

2017)
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Directors’ Report
Your Directors present their report for the Queensland Education Leadership Institute (QELi) (the Company) for the year ended 30 June 2018.

DIRECTORS

The following persons were Directors of the Company during the whole of the financial year and up to the date of this report unless otherwise stated:

 ˃ Professor Donna Pendergast (Chair)
 ˃ Mr Paul Paxton-Hall (Deputy Chair)
 ˃ Ms Jacquita Miller (Appointment concluded July 2017)
 ˃ Dr Lee-Anne Perry AM (Appointment concluded June 2018)
 ˃ Ms Leanne Nixon (Appointment concluded May 2018)
 ˃ Mr Kris Isles (Appointed AGM 22 November 2017)
 ˃ Ms Josephine Wise (Appointed AGM 22 November 2017)

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The principal activity of the Company during the year was the empowerment of education leaders to improve student, school, system and organisational 
outcomes through high quality professional learning.  

The operating result of the company for 2017-18 was $672,281 surplus ($212,275 surplus in 2016-17).

SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS TO 30 JUNE 2018

All key strategic priorities in the Organisational Improvement Plan 2017-18 were either completed or were well underway by 30 June 2018. Major 
highlights from 2017-18 include:

• QELi was proud to support 4,451 education leaders, across Australia (state, Catholic and independent sectors) and internationally, through 144 
leadership development programs – a 47 per cent increase in participation rates in 2017-18 compared to 2016-17, and a 19 per cent increase in 
the number of programs facilitated.

• We developed and delivered 91 customised programs in direct response to identified needs by the Queensland Department of Education, 
and schools and sectors across Australia, addressing topics such as Leading Inclusive School Practices, High Performing Learning Cultures, 
Coaching for Instructional Leaders, Developing Trust, High Performing Leadership Teams and Future Leaders.

• In the culminating year of our partnership with the Queensland Department of Education we delivered 22 programs to 978 educators in 
Queensland State Schools. Overall, since the commencement of the partnership on 2 December 2016, we have supported 3,007 educators 
through 35 programs and we are proud to have been able to take these professional development programs out to leaders in rural and remote 
areas.

• 842 educators attended events in our Special Leadership Event series, gaining insight from national and international thought leaders including Dr 
Jim Watterson, Professor Michael Fullan OC, Professor Donna Pendergast, Maggie Farrar, Tracey Ezard, Dr Cameron Brooks, Emeritus Professor 
Dylan Wiliam, Dr Simon Breakspear and Dr Lyn Sharratt.

• Our focus remained on collaborating with industry colleagues and strengthening our relationship with education stakeholders including 
Queensland’s three education sectors – Department of Education, Queensland Catholic Education Commission and Independent Schools 
Queensland – universities, professional associations, private sector leadership development providers, and regional and remote clusters 
of schools. In April 2018, we announced a new partnership with Growth Coaching International, to deliver coaching-focused professional 
development programs directly to schools across Queensland, providing rural and regional educators with greater access to training and allowing 
on campus whole-school or small team coaching programs.

• We investigated in planning and development for the implementation of a new online learning management system, ecommerce system and 
website, to improve functionality and enhance usability for our clients and internal staff, positioning QELi for a successful launch in July 2018.

QUALITY SUITE OF OFFERINGS

Sector Breakdown

In 2017-18, QELi's program participants included representatives from government and non-government systems and schools in Queensland and 
nationally, as well as participants from outside Australia and participants from non-education sectors:

• 3,436 (77.2 per cent) participants from Queensland state schools
• 505 (11.3 per cent) participants from Queensland Catholic education
• 208 (4.7 per cent) participants from Queensland independent schools
• 212 (4.8 per cent) participants from Australian government and non-government schools outside Queensland
• 70 (1.6 per cent) participants from international systems and schools
• 20 (0.4 per cent) participants from non-education sectors
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Participant Rating

We are proud to have maintained our overall program satisfaction result on average of 4.6 out of 5 as rated by participants when asked whether the 
program or event attended made a positive impact to their ongoing learning and development. Achieving this score again in 2017-18 further reinforces 
our commitment to providing educators with high quality, impactful leadership development training.

MARKETING AND COMMUNICATIONS PLAN

Continue to establish partnering agreements as part of the implementation of the QELi Marketing Strategy.

FINANCIAL PLAN

Revenue
QELi generated a sales revenue of $10,823,732 in 2017-18 ($6,847,398 in 2016-17). 

Net surplus
QELi achieved a net operating surplus totaling $672,281 in 2017-18 ($212,275 in 2016-17).
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Meetings of Directors
During the year, six meetings of the Board of Directors were held. Attendances of each Director were as follows:

Directors' Meetings

Number eligible to 
attend

Number attended

Professor Donna Pendergast (Chair) 6 6

Paul Paxton-Hall (Deputy Chair) 6 3

Leanne Nixon 4 2

Dr Lee-Anne Perry AM 6 4

Kris Isles 5 4

Josephine Wise 5 5

COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARANTEE

Members of the Company are: the Department of Education, through Minister for Education and Director-General. For each class of membership, 
the amount a member is liable to contribute is $100-00 on winding up. Each member of the Company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the 
Company in the event of the Company being wound up, while they are a member, or within one year after they cease to be a member, for the payment 
of the debts and liabilities of the Company contracted before they cease to be a member and of the costs, charges and expenses of winding up and for 
adjustment of the rights of the contributors among themselves.

Total maximum amount that members are liable to contribute on winding up is $200-00.

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE OF OFFICER

The Company has indemnified the Directors and Executives of the company for costs incurred, in their capacity as a Director or Executive, for which 
they may be held personally liable, except where there is a lack of good faith.

During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the Directors and Executives of the Company against a liability 
to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. For commercial in confidence reasons, the contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature 
of the liability and the amount of the premium. The full details have been made available for QELi’s auditor’s inspection.

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE OF AUDITOR

The Company has not, during or since the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the Auditor of the Company or any related entity against a 
liability incurred by the Auditor.

During the financial year, the Company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the Auditor of the Company or any related entity.
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P 61 7 3007 5222 | E info@qeli.qld.edu.au | W www.qeli.qld.edu.au 
Floor 14, 201 Charlotte Street, Brisbane QLD 4000 | GPO Box 2510, Brisbane QLD 4001 

Auditor's Independence Declaration 

A copy of the Auditor's Independence Declaration as required under s 60‐40 of the 
Australian Charities and Non‐for‐profits Commission Act 2012. 

 

AUDITOR: 
Grant Thornton commenced as the company's auditor in 2012, in accordance 
with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors: 

 

 

Professor Donna Pendergast  
Board Chair 

 
Dated this tenth day of October 2018 
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Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594 
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389 

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients 
and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International 
Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are 
delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to 
Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to 
Grant Thornton Australia Limited. 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

www.grantthornton.com.au

Level 18 
King George Central 
145 Ann Street 
Brisbane QLD 4000 

Correspondence to:  
GPO Box 1008 
Brisbane QLD 4001 

T + 61 7 3222 0200
F + 61 7 3222 0444
E info.qld@au.gt.com
W www.grantthornton.com.au

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
To the Directors of Queensland Education Leadership Institute Ltd 
In accordance with the requirements of section 60-40 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, as 
lead auditor for the audit of Queensland Education Leadership Institute Ltd for the year ended 30 June 2018, I declare that, to
the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in 
relation to the audit. 

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 
Chartered Accountants 

M S Bell 
Partner - Audit & Assurance 

Brisbane, 8 October 2018 



37

Financial Statements
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Note 2018 
$

2017
$

INCOME

Sales from Programs and Services 2 10,823,732 6,847,398

TOTAL INCOME 10,823,732 6,847,398

EXPENSES

Cost of Sales (8,787,709) (4,928,198)

Administration 3 (42,388) (116,454)

Human Resources 3 (1,074,417) (1,193,628)

Finance & Legal 3 (134,949) (130,198)

Marketing 3 (47,186) (67,594)

Office Space 3 (118,153) (213,802)

Information, Communications & Technology 3 (49,814) (10,811)

TOTAL EXPENSES (10,254,616) (6,660,685)

OPERATING SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR 569,116 186,713

OTHER INCOME

Interest Revenue 2 103,165 27,981

TOTAL OTHER INCOME 103,165 27,981

OTHER EXPENSES

Asset Disposal Gain/(Loss) - (2,419)

TOTAL OTHER EXPENSES - (2,419)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 672,281 212,275

The above statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2018

Note
2018 

$
2017

$

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 5 6,678,536 4,546,674

Trade and other receivables 6 620,011 6,644,983

Other assets 7 33,385 61,170

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 7,331,932 11,252,827

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Other assets 7 60,425 31,450

Property, plant and equipment 8 206,797 249,126

Intangible assets 9 44,526 54,619

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 311,748 335,195

TOTAL ASSETS 7,643,680 11,588,022

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 10 4,741,358 9,378,087

Provision for employee entitlements 88,203 76,653

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 4,829,561 9,454,740

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Provision for lease contract 12 17,645 9,089

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 17,645 9,089

TOTAL LIABILITIES 4,847,206 9,463,829

NET ASSETS 2,796,474 2,124,193

EQUITY

Retained earnings 2,124,193 1,911, 918

Year surplus/deficit 672,281 212,275

TOTAL EQUITY 2,796,474 2,124,193

The above statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Retained
Earnings

$

BALANCE AT 1 JULY 2016 1,911,918

Surplus (deficit) for the year 212,275

Other comprehensive income -

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2017 2,124,193

BALANCE AT 1 JULY 2017 2,124,193

Surplus (deficit) for the year 672,281

Other comprehensive income -

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2018 2,796,474

The above statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Note 2018 
$

2017
$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers 12,998,226 9,102,304

Payment to suppliers and employees (10,920,663) (7,176,817)

Interest received 103,165 27,981

NET CASH PROVIDED BY / (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 14 2,180,728 1,953,468

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 8 (24,600) (260,021)

Purchase of intangible assets 9 (24,266) (36,692)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY / (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES (48,866) (296,713)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents held 2,131,862 1,656,755

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 4,546,674 2,889,919

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR 5 6,678,536 4,546,674

The above statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Reporting company

The Queensland Education Leadership Institute Limited (the Company) was incorporated on the 21 June 2010. The principal activity of the Company 
during the year was the empowerment of education leaders to improve student, school, system and organisational outcomes through high quality 
professional learning.

Basis of preparation

The financial report was authorised for issue on 10 October 2018 by the Directors of the Company. With respect to compliance with Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations, the Company has applied those requirements applicable to not-for-profit companies, as the Company is a not-for-profit 
company.

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and 
other authoritative pronouncements.

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in financial statements containing relevant and 
reliable information about transactions, events and conditions. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are 
presented below and have been consistently applied unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on historical costs. All figures contained in the financial statements 
are presented in Australian Dollars, rounded to the whole dollar. The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and 
presentation of the financial statements.

a. Income tax

The Company is exempt from income tax expense under Subdivision 50-B of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

b. Property, plant and equipment

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs 
and maintenance are charged to the profit or loss during the financial year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including capitalised lease assets is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life 
to the Company commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. Fit-out costs (leasehold improvements) are depreciated over the 
estimated useful lives of the improvements.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting year.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains or losses are included in the profit 
or loss.

Class of asset Depreciation rate

Leasehold improvements rate will be based on the 
lease term

Computer equipment 25% - 33%

Office equipment 10% - 36%
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NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

c. Intangibles

Intangible assets are measured on the cost basis less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. All intangible assets have a finite 
useful life and are amortised on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life to the Company, commencing from the time the asset is held 
ready for use.

The amortisation rates used for each class of intangible assets are:

Subsequent costs are included in the assets carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

d. Leases

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are charged as expenses on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. A distinction is made in the financial statements between finance leases that effectively transfer from the lessor to 
the lessee substantially all of the risks and benefits incidental to ownership, and operating leases, under which the lessor retains all of the risks 
and benefits.

e. Financial instruments

Initial recognition and measurements

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised at fair value plus transaction costs, when the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the Company commits itself to either purchase or 
sell the asset (i.e. trade date accounting is adopted).

Classification and subsequent measurement

i. Receivables
Receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

ii. Financial liabilities
Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

f. Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting year, the Company assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. The assessment will 
include considering external and internal sources of information. If such an indication exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by 
comparing the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the assets fair value less costs to sell and value in use to the assets carrying 
value. Any excess of the assets carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the profit or loss.

g. Employee benefits

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave, that are expected to be settled within one year are 
recognised as current liabilities, in respect of employee’s service up to the reporting date, and have been measured at the amounts expected 
to be paid when the liability is settled. Employee benefits payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of the 
estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits. In determining the liability, consideration is given to employee wage increases 
and the probability that the employee may not satisfy vesting requirements. Those cash flows are discounted using market yields on high 
quality corporate bonds with terms to maturity that match the expected timing of cash flows.

In calculating the present value of future cash flows in respect of long service leave, the probability of long service leave being taken is 
based upon historical data. The measurement and recognition criteria for long service leave has been included in Note 1(o).

Employee benefits are recognised when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is 
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.

Employee benefits are recognised from services rendered by employees to the end of the reporting year.

Employee benefits are measured using the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting year.

h. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less.

Class of intangible asset Amortisatoin rate

Computer software 33%

Website development costs 33%
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NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

i. Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
provision for impairment. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days from invoice date.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectable are written off by reducing the 
carrying amount directly. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is raised when there is objective evidence that the company will not be 
able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables.

The amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate. Cash flows relating to short term receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is 
immaterial.

j. Revenue and other income

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable after taking into account any trade discounts and volume 
rebates allowed. Grants and contributions that are non-reciprocal in nature are recognised as revenue in the year to which the Company obtains 
control over them. Pursuant to AASB 118 revenue recognition relating to the provision of services is determined with reference to the stage 
of completion of the transaction at the end of each reporting year and where the outcome of the contract can be estimated reliably. Stage of 
completion is determined with reference to the services performed to date as a percentage of total anticipated services to be performed. Where 
the outcome cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent that related expenditure is recoverable. Revenue from the sale 
of goods is recognised at the point of delivery as this corresponds to the transfer of significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods, and 
the cessation of all involvement in those goods. Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method, which for floating rate financial 
assets is the rate inherent in the instrument.

k. Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting year for goods and services received by the Company 
during the reporting year, which remain unpaid. The balance is recognised as a current liability with the amounts normally paid within 30 days of 
recognition of the liability.

l. Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the 
Australian Taxation Office. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of 
the expense.

Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST.

m. Comparative figures

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation for the current financial 
year.

n. Critical accounting estimates and judgments

The Directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial statements based on historical knowledge and best available 
current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, 
obtained both externally and within the Company.

o. Key estimates and judgments

i. Revenue recognition
The Company recognises revenue on the percent completion basis and estimates costs based on the stage (or phase) of completion.

ii. Impairment
The Company assesses impairment of the website at the end of each reporting year by evaluating the conditions and events specific to 
the Company that may be indicative of impairment triggers. Recoverable amounts of relevant assets are reassessed using value-in-use 
calculations which incorporate various key assumptions.

iii. Impairment of receivables
The company has calculated a provision for impairment of receivables at $5,000 based on information from the first seven years of trading 
as per Note 6. This calculation is based on historical data and will be reviewed each year to assess reasonableness.

iv. Employee benefits
The company has not recognised Long Service for any of its employees as no employee has been with the company for more than five 
years, and thus have been assessed as having a zero probability of obtaining Long Service Leave as per Note 1(g) above.

p. Corporate overhead allocation

A corporate overhead allocation has been applied to the cost of goods sold expenses that relate to its major client, the Department of 
Education. This has been required to enable it to meet its reporting requirements under the company’s contract with that entity.
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NOTE 2: REVENUE

2018 
$

2017
$

SALES FROM PROGRAMS AND SERVICES

Domestic Revenue 10,794,618 6,712,298

International Revenues 29,114 135,100

TOTAL SALES FROM PROGRAMS AND SERVICES 10,823,732 6,847,398

OTHER REVENUE

Interest received 103,165 27,981

TOTAL OTHER REVENUE 103,165 27,981

TOTAL 10,926,897 6,875,379

NOTE 3: EXPENSES

ADMINISTRATION
2018 

$
2017

$

Office Supplies & Services 41,690 56,407

Postage & Courier 4,811 4,310

Reference & Educational Materials 222 -

Travel, Accommodation & Meals 419 8,741

Meal/Entertainment 2,517 5,024

Parking, Cab & Toll Fares 2,215 4,208

Mileage Claim/Hire Car/Fuel 502 348

Vehicles & Maintenance - -

Gifts & Donations 175 994

Room Hire & Catering 734 3,178

Educational Research 29,257 39,270

Other Expenses - -

Staff Amenities 661 2,496

Conferences & Events - 9,887

Memberships & Associations 1,700 2,848

Corporate Overheads Allocation (42,515) (21,257)

TOTAL ADMINISTRATION 42,388 116,454

HUMAN RESOURCES
2018 

$
2017

$

Wages & Salaries 1,000,946 1,003,613

Superannuation 92,120 99,943

Consultants/Business Advisory 153,375 80,189

Staff Training & Development 29,173 21,002

Recruitment & HR 21,182 57,081

Employee Assistance 1,800 -

Employee Relocation - -

Employee Entitlement Expense 11,550 48,640

Employee Migration Expenses - -

Fringe Benefits Tax 691 1,370

Corporate Overhead Allocation (236,420) (118,210)

TOTAL HUMAN RESOURCES 1,074,417 1,193,628
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NOTE 3: EXPENSES (CONT’D)

FINANCE AND LEGAL
2018 

$
2017

$

Accounting & Taxation Advice 168 -

Audit Fees 16,950 16,521

Account Admin Fees 12,849 10,785

Legal Fees 19,045 25,242

Insurance 14,901 12,975

Bad Debts Expense - -

Depreciation & Amortisation 101,287 79,923

Company Registration 323 38

Corporate Overhead Allocation (30,574) (15,286))

TOTAL FINANCIAL AND LEGAL 134,949 130,198

MARKETING
2018 

$
2017

$

Advertising 2,091 12,268

Marketing & Communications 58,495 62,026

Corporate Overhead Allocation (13,400) (6,700)

TOTAL MARKETING 47,186 67,594

OFFICE SPACE
2018 

$
2017

$

Office Space Rent 103,857 173,167

Outgoings 37,163 32,086

Car Parks 45,522 38,184

Equipment Lease 9,193 1,569

Maintenance 1,220 8,197

Corporate Overhead Allocation (78,802) (39,401)

TOTAL OFFICE SPACE 118,153 213,802

INFORMATION, COMMUNICATION & TECHNOLOGY
2018 

$
2017

$

Telephone & Internet 32,393 24,086

Computer & IT 96,171 68,831

Corporate Overhead Allocation (78,750) (82,106)

TOTAL INFORMATION, COMMUNICATION AND TECHNOLOGY 49,814 10,811
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NOTE 4: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

The totals of remuneration paid to key management personnel (KMP) of the Company during the year are:

2018 
$

2017
$

Key Management Personnel Compensation 949,938 787,152

The Directors remunerated under the Key Management Personnel Compensation (KMP) note during the year were:

 ˃ Paul Paxton-Hall (Deputy Chair)

ANALYSIS OF TOTAL DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 2018 
$

2017
$

Director Fees 3,956 4,288

TOTAL DIRECTORS FEES 3,956 4,288

The following directors were not included in the KMP note during the year:

 ˃ Dr Donna Pendergast - (Chair)
 ˃ Leanne Nixon - State Government employee
 ˃ Jacquita Miller - State Government employee
 ˃ Dr Lee-Anne Perry AM - Catholic Education employee
 ˃ Kris Isles - PWC employee
 ˃ Josephine Wise - Independent Schools Queensland employee

ANALYSIS OF TOTAL EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION
2018 

$
2017

$

Wages and Salaries – Executive Staff 861,027 708,638

Superannuation guarantee - Executive Staff 84,955 74,226

TOTAL EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION 945,982 782,864

Executive staff remunerated under the KMP note during the year were:

 ˃ Neil McDonald - Chief Executive Officer
 ˃ Ilona Abram - Director Corporate Services
 ˃ Stephen Firth - Chief Financial Officer
 ˃ Chris Thomas - Director of Programs
 ˃ John Boustead - Director Program Management
 ˃ Margaret Barber - Director Teacher Capability

ANALYSIS OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION
2018 

$
2017

$

Wages and Salaries – Executive Staff 861,027 708,638

Superannuation guarantee - Executive Staff 84,955 74,226

Directors’ fees 3,956 4,288

TOTAL EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 949,938 787,152

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions – normal commercial terms

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions that are no more favourable than those available to other 
parties unless otherwise stated.
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NOTE 5: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CURRENT
2018 

$
2017

$

Cash at bank and in hand 6,678,536 4,546,674

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 6,678,536 4,546,674

Reconciling of Cash:
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cashflows is reconciled to items in the Statement of Financial Position as above.

NOTE 6: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

CURRENT
2018 

$
2017

$

Program receivables 608,643 6,634,879

Impairment of receivables (Provision for Bad Debts) (5,000) (5,000)

603,643 6,629,879

Sundry receivables 16,368 15,104

TOTAL TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 620,011 6,644,983

NOTE 7: OTHER ASSETS

CURRENT
2018 

$
2017

$

Prepayments 13,370 41,005

Go Via Toll Account (1) 15 165

Security deposit (2) 20,000 20,000

TOTAL CURRENT OTHER ASSETS 33,385 61,170

(1)     The GoVia Toll account balances have been included here for completeness.
(2)     QELi has a restriction on the use of the security deposit, in that it has been provided as security for a corporate charge card facility.

NON-CURRENT
2018 

$
2017

$

Cab Charge Facility - Deposit 200 200

Lease - Deposit (1) 60,225 31,250

TOTAL NON-CURRENT OTHER ASSETS 60,425 31,450

(i) QELi was required to pay a second security deposit for the lease of additional floor space on Level 14, 201 Charlotte Street, Brisbane.

NOTE 4: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL (CONT’D)

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
2018 

$
2017

$

A company controlled by Paul Paxton-Hall, who is a Director, regarding the provision of legal advice to the Board 
and its CEO during the year.

14,835 16,242

Griffith University, an organisation that employs as Dean of Education and Professional Studies Professor Donna 
Pendergast, who is Chair, regarding the provision of research services to inform commissioned projects and 
evaluations.

553,252 -

TOTAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (PAYMENTS MADE) 568,087 16,242

ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE - KEY CUSTOMER GROUPS

Members of the Company are: the Department of Education, through Minister for Education and Director-General.
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NOTE 8: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS
2018 

$
2017

$

At cost 138,380 118,567

Accumulated depreciation (26,921) (7,608)

TOTAL 111,459 110,959

COMPUTER EQUIPMENT

At cost 178,048 173,261

Accumulated depreciation (130,548) (91,917)

TOTAL 47,500 81,344

OFFICE EQUIPMENT

At cost 65,865 65,865

Accumulated depreciation (18,027) (9,042)

TOTAL 47,838 56,823

TOTAL PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 206,797 249,126

Leasehold 
improvements

$

Computer 
equipment

$

Office 
equipment

$

Total
$

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and 
equipment between the beginning and the end of the current financial year.

500 (33,844) (8,985) (42,329)

Carrying amount at 1 July 2017 110,959 81,344 56,823 249,126

Additions 19,813 4,787 - 24,600

Write off of former leasehold assets - - - -

Write off of former leasehold assets depreciation - - - -

Depreciation expense (19,313) (38,631) (8,985) (66,929)

CARRYING AMOUNT AT 30 JUNE 2018 111,459 47,500 47,838 206,797

NOTE 9: INTANGIBLE ASSETS

COMPUTER SOFTWARE ACQUIRED
2018 

$
2017

$

Cost 14,998 9,952

Accumulated amortisation (9,019) (5,119)

NET CARRYING VALUE 5,979 4,833

WEBSITE DEVELOPMENT COSTS
2018 

$
2017

$

Cost 189,379 170,159

Accumulated amortisation (150,832) (120,373)

NET CARRYING VALUE 38,547 49,786

TOTAL INTANGIBLE ASSETS 44,526 54,619

Computer 
software 
acquired

$

Website 
development 

costs
$

Total
$

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of intangible asset between the beginning 
and the end of the current financial year.

1,146 (11,239) (10,093)

Carrying amount at 1 July 2017 4,833 49,786 54,619

Additions 5,046 19,220 24,266

Amortisation expense (3,900) (30,459) (34,359)

CARRYING AMOUNT AT 30 JUNE 2018 5,979 38,547 44,526
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NOTE 10: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

CURRENT
2018 

$
2017

$

Trade payables 505,617 49,025

Sundry payables and accrued expenses 278,477 984,137

Unearned income 3,957,264 8,344,925

TOTAL TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 4,741,358 9,378,087

NOTE 11: CAPITAL AND LEASING COMMITMENTS

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
2018 

$
2017

$

Payable – minimum lease payments:

 ˃ no later than 12 months 329,025 332,620

 ˃ between 12 months and five years 516,104 885,013

TOTAL 845,129 1,217,633

NOTE 12: OFFICE LEASE PROVISION

Provisions
Provisions are recorded when QELi has a present obligation, either legal or constructive as a result of a past event. They are recognised at the amount 
expected at reporting date for which the obligation will be settled in a future period.

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
2018 

$
2017

$

Provision for lease contract * 17,645 9,089

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 17,645 9,089

MOVEMENTS IN PROVISION

Balance at 1 July 9,089

Additional provision recognised 8,556 9,089

Reversals -

Balance at 30 June 17,645 9,089

* This provision for lease contracts reflects a requirement to provide for known future increases in operating lease rentals for the lease of QELi  
premises.

NOTE 13: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS

There are no legal or any other contingencies that are known to QELi as at 30 June 2018.
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NOTE 14: RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING SURPLUS TO CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES

Notes
2018 

$
2017

$

Operating surplus / (deficit) for the year 672,281 212,275

Add back depreciation expense 8 66,929 45,900

Add back amortisation charges 9 34,359 34,023

Add back impairment to leasehold improvements - 2,419

TOTAL 773,569 294,617

Net movements in Statement of Financial Position items for the year:

ASSETS

Decrease (Increase) in trade receivables 6,024,972 (6,148,826)

Decrease (Increase) in other current assets 27,785 (34,526)

Decrease (Increase) in non-current other assets (28,975) (19,943)

LIABILITIES

Increase (Decrease) in trade and other payables (4,636,729) 7,804,417

Increase (Decrease) in annual leave provision 11,550 48,640

Increase (Decrease) in long service leave provision - -

Increase (Decrease) in lease contract provision 8,556 9,089

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 2,180,728 1,953,468

NOTE 15: EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

There have been no significant events occur post 30 June 2018, nor are any anticipated in the near future, that would in any way diminish the accuracy 
of this financial report.

NOTE 16: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, short-term investments, and accounts receivable and payable. The totals 
for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 139 as detailed in the accounting policies to these financial state-
ments, are as follows:

FINANCIAL ASSETS Notes
2018 

$
2017

$

Cash and cash equivalents 5 6,678,536 4,546,674

Trade and other receivables 6 620,011 6,644,983

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 7,298,547 11,191,658

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES Notes
2018 

$
2017

$

Trade and other payables 10 4,741,358 9,378,087

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 4,741,358 9,378,087

NOTE 17: MEMBERS’ GUARANTEE

Pursuant to the constitution, each member of the Company undertakes to contribute to the property of the Company in the event of winding up. The 
maximum contribution per member in accordance with the guarantee is $100. As at 30 June 2018, the Queensland Education Leadership Institute 
had two members (2017: two members).

                QELi Financial Report 2017-18



51

NOTE 18: GOING CONCERN

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis.

The Board is continually assessing the capital needs of the Company’s business and addressing the alternatives available to fund the operational 
requirements of the Company. As at the 30 June 2018 the Company had $6,678,536 (2017: $4,546,674) in cash and cash equivalents of which 
$3,957,264 (2017: $8,344,924) relates to monies received for future programs. The Board believes that based upon current spending forecasts there is 
adequate funding to provide for the Company’s requirements to complete its strategic plan and in any case beyond 12 months of operation

NOTE 19: REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

Total amount payable to the Grant Thornton Australia for professional fees and services to the year ending 30 June 2018, is $16,950 (GST excl.)
(2017: $16,500 GST excl.)
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P 61 7 3007 5222 | E info@qeli.qld.edu.au | W www.qeli.qld.edu.au 
Floor 14, 201 Charlotte Street, Brisbane QLD 4000 | GPO Box 2510, Brisbane QLD 4001 

Directors' Declaration 
 
In the opinion of the Directors of Queensland Education Leadership Institute Limited: 

1 .  The financial statements and notes of Queensland Education Leadership Institute  
are in accordance with the Australian Charities and  Non‐for‐profits Commission  Act 
2012, including: 

a. giving a true and fair view of its financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of its 
performance for the financial year ended on that date; and 

b. comply with Accounting Standards ‐  Reduced Disclosure Requirements  (including the 
Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Australian Charities and Non‐for‐profits 
Commission Act 2012, and 

2. There are reasonable grounds to believe that Queensland Education Leadership Institute 
Limited will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

 

 

Professor Donna Pendergast 
Board Chair 
 
Dated this tenth day of October 2018 
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Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594 
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389 
 
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients 
and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International 
Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are 
delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to 
Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to 
Grant Thornton Australia Limited. 
 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

 

www.grantthornton.com.au

Level 18 
King George Central 
145 Ann Street 
Brisbane QLD 4000 
 
Correspondence to:  
GPO Box 1008 
Brisbane QLD 4001 
 
T + 61 7 3222 0200 
F + 61 7 3222 0444 
E info.qld@au.gt.com 
W www.grantthornton.com.au 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Members of Queensland Education Leadership Institute Ltd  

Report on the audit of the financial report 

 

Auditor’s opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Queensland Education Leadership Institute Ltd (the “Registered Entity”), which 
comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement 
of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including 
a summary of significant accounting policies and the Directors’ declaration. 

In our opinion, the financial report of Queensland Education Leadership Institute Ltd has been prepared in accordance 
with Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, including: 

a giving a true and fair view of the Registered Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of its financial 
performance for the year then ended; and  

b complying with Australian Accounting Standards and Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Regulation 2013. 

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report.  We are 
independent of the Registered Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and 
Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other information  

The Directors are responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the information included in the 
Registered Entity’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2018, but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s 
report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 
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In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the financial report 

The Directors of the Registered Entity are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the ACNC Act, and for such internal control as the Directors determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.   

In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Registered Entity’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Registered Entity or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but 
to do so.  

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the Registered Entity’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board website: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_files/ar3.pdf . This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 
Chartered Accountants 

M S Bell 
Partner - Audit & Assurance 

Brisbane, 10 October 2018 
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